IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-393

CARNIVAL CORPORATION,

Petitioner,

v.

DARCE CARLISLE,

Respondent.

CARNIVAL'S INITIAL BRIEF

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

KAYE, ROSE & MALTZMAN, LLP Jeffrey B. Maltzman Darren W. Friedman One Biscayne Tower 2 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, FL 33131-1803

(305) 358-6555

HOLLAND & KNIGHT LLP Rodolfo Sorondo, Jr. Lenore C. Smith 701 Brickell Avenue Suite 3000 Miami, FL 33131 (305) 374-8500

Counsel for Carnival Corporation

INTRODUCTION

In the decision we ask this Court to review, the Third District Court of Appeal reversed a summary judgment for our client, Carnival Corporation, and held, contrary to overwhelmingly settled federal maritime law, that a shipowner is vicariously liable for the negligence of a shipboard doctor in treating passengers. Even more surprising than the district court's radical departure from established maritime law was its assumption that it had authority to make that departure. Because the district court exceeded its authority by rejecting the applicable maritime law instead of applying it as it was required to do, and because even if it had the authority to change the law it was wrong to do so, we ask this Court to quash the decision of the Third District and reinstate the summary judgment for Carnival on vicarious liability.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Darce and Kristopher Carlisle, who lived in Ann Arbor, Michigan, took a cruise in March of 1997 with their 14-year-old daughter, Elizabeth, on Carnival's ship Ecstasy, departing from Miami, Florida (2R 197, 390, 393-94, 403).¹ A few days before the cruise they arrived in Davenport, Florida, near Orlando, where they planned to stay a few days with Darce's parents before going on to Miami (2R 403). The day before the cruise was to start, Elizabeth became quite ill, with vomiting, fever, lower abdominal pain and headache (2R405-06). This went on all day (2R 408). The Carlisles nevertheless decided to proceed with their plans, and drove to Miami on

¹ We will refer to the record on appeal by clerk's volume and page number. For example, 2R 197 refers to volume 2 of the record, page 197. References to the district court's decision, appended to this brief, are to decision page numbers and appendix page numbers.

Monday, March 31st, and boarded the ship (2R 406-07, 409). Elizabeth was feeling so ill they went straight to the infirmary, but the infirmary was not open yet, and they returned later (2R 429-30, 436-37). The ship's doctor, Mauro Neri, at that time diagnosed the problem as influenza, and prescribed medications for flu (2R 439).

Dr. Neri was a physician licensed to practice in England, with extensive training in surgery and experience in emergency medicine (2R 204, 252, 299-300). His credentials had been reviewed and approved for Carnival by the chairman of the emergency department at Mount Sinai Medical Center, Dr. Arthur Diskin (2R 223, 242). Dr. Neri's status, as the Carlisles were advised by both their cruise tickets and Carnival's brochure,² was that of an independent contractor (2R 343, 349; *see also* 2R 304). Although Carnival contractually agreed to indemnify Dr. Neri (2R 302), and controlled certain non-medical aspects of Dr. Neri's employment such as the style and rank of uniform he wore (2R 281, 431-32, 434), and the hours of operation of the

² The ticket said:

If the Vessel carries a physician, nurse. . . , it is done solely for the convenience of the guest and any such person in dealing with the guest is not and shall not be considered in any respect whatsoever, as the employee, servant or agent of the Carrier and the Carrier shall not be liable for any act or omission of such person or those under his order or assisting him with respect to treatment, advice or care of any kind given to any guest.

The physician, nurse . . . are each independent contractors and shall be entitled to make a proper charge for any service performed with respect to a guest and the Carrier shall not be concerned in any way whatsoever in any such arrangement (2R 343).

Carnival's 1997 Cruise Vacation Brochure, in a section entitled "Things to Know Before You Go," stated: "MEDICAL SERVICES [:] The ships' infirmaries are equipped to treat minor non-emergency matters. A doctor is available to render services at a customary charge. Doctors are independent contractors" (2R 349).

infirmary (2R 303), it was undisputed that on Carnival ships all decisions with regard to the *medical treatment* of any person on board were left solely to the professional judgment of the ship's physician (3R 315).

Over the next few days Elizabeth saw the doctor two more times and he continued to believe that she had the flu (2R 447-50, 461-62). On Wednesday, April 2nd, Darce Carlisle sent a fax to their hometown pediatrician describing Elizabeth's symptoms, and later telephoned him (2R 456, 458) The pediatrician recommended that they leave the ship (2R 468). The Carlisles voluntarily left the ship in Cozumel on Wednesday, flew via Cancun to Miami, where they spent the night, and left for Detroit the next day, Thursday, on the first available flight (2R 472-73). When they arrived in Detroit they went straight to the hospital, arriving at 11:00 Thursday morning (2R 474). Although the doctors at the hospital began running various tests immediately, it took them two days, until Saturday afternoon, April 5th, to determine that Elizabeth had a ruptured appendix, and they operated right away (2R 477-80). Because of an abdominal infection, Elizabeth had to have another operation on April 23rd (2R 483-84, 618).

In March of 1998 Darce Carlisle, on her daughter's behalf, sued Carnival and Dr. Neri for negligence (1R2-9).³ Carlisle sought to hold Carnival liable on theories of,

³ Elizabeth Carlisle's precise injuries, listed in the Third Amended Complaint (2R 163-64), are not relevant to the legal question before this Court, but we do need to set one thing straight. Carlisle alleged in her original complaint that, among other things, because of Carnival's and Dr. Neri's negligence, Elizabeth had "lost the ability to conceive and bear children" (1R 4). In her three amended complaints Carlisle changed that allegation to "suffered . . . damage to the reproductive system" (1R 24, 108-09, 163). The district court mistakenly treated the original (later changed) allegation that Elizabeth was unable to conceive as an established fact, 864 So. 2d at 2 (A2) ("as a (continued...)

among other things, vicarious liability, negligent hiring and apparent agency (1R 162-64, 166-67). Carnival's motion for summary judgment on all of these theories was granted (2R 195-349, 382; SR1).⁴ The summary judgment on vicarious liability was based on the established maritime rule that shipowners are not vicariously liable for the negligence of shipboard doctors in treating passengers, commonly called the *Barbetta* rule after the Fifth Circuit's decision in Barbetta v. S/S Bermuda Star, 848 F.2d 1364 (5th Cir. 1988). Carlisle appealed, and the Third District reversed the summary judgment on vicarious liability, expressly rejecting the *Barbetta* rule, and adopting instead the reasoning of a solitary federal district court case, Nietes v. American President Lines, Ltd., 188 F. Supp. 219 (N.D. Cal. 1959). Carlisle v. Carnival Corp., 864 So. 2d 1, 7 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003) (A6).⁵ Carnival moved for rehearing, rehearing en banc and certification of a question of great public importance. The Third District certified the question "whether a cruise line is vicariously liable for the medical malpractice of the shipboard doctor, committed on a ship's passenger," and that brought us to this Court.

^{(...}continued)

result of the rupture and subsequent infection, Elizabeth was rendered sterile"), but there was evidence to the contrary (deposition of Elizabeth Carlisle, 2R 623-25).

⁴ We have filed along with this brief an agreed motion to supplement the record with the summary final judgment (SR1).

⁵ As a result of its decision on vicarious liability, the district court did not reach any issues of apparent agency, and it expressly found no error in that portion of the summary judgment on the claim of negligent hiring. 864 So. 2d at 8 n.5 (A7 n.5).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

An inextricable part of the district court's decision rejecting the *Barbetta* rule that shipowners are not vicariously liable for the negligence of their doctors in treating passengers is the court's assumption, or implicit holding, that in a case in which it was obligated to apply maritime law it had the authority to reject a settled maritime rule in favor of a lone contrary decision. This Court must first consider the authority of a Florida court to work such a change in federal maritime law.

That the *Barbetta* rule is settled maritime law is beyond question. In at least 27 decisions over more than a hundred years, federal courts have adhered to it, as against the one decision, *Nietes*, that – despite criticism and express rejection of it by other courts – the district court here adopted. The *Barbetta* rule being settled, and the Third District being bound, as it was, to apply maritime law in this case, it had no authority to reject *Barbetta* and follow *Nietes*. A state court may not, as the district court here has done, change a characteristic feature of maritime law, or interfere with the uniformity so essential to maritime law. Because the district court had no authority to do what it did, its decision should be quashed and the certified question answered in the negative.

Even if the district court had authority to reject the *Barbetta* rule, its decision should be quashed because *Barbetta* is correct. Vicarious liability turns on control, and, as many decisions explain, although a shipowner may control certain aspects of a doctor's employment, it cannot – because of the nature of the doctor-patient relationship and the shipowner's lack of expertise – have the control over the doctor's practice of medicine required for vicarious liability.

5

Finally, the issue is one of great public importance because imposing vicarious liability on shipowners will have significant impact on the cruise industry so vital to Florida, and, in turn, Florida's economy and citizens, and because the district court has radically changed maritime law.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE DISTRICT COURT WAS REQUIRED TO APPLY THE SETTLED FEDERAL MARITIME RULE OF *BARBETTA*, AND HAD NO AUTHORITY TO CHANGE IT

An inextricable part of the Third District's decision rejecting the *Barbetta* rule and adopting *Nietes* is the implicit holding that – despite its duty to *apply* existing maritime law – it had the authority to change that law. This was wrong, and this Court must examine that assumption before it can reach the substantive question of vicarious liability.⁶

A.

The Barbetta Rule Is Settled Maritime Law

It is well established that although plaintiffs may sue in state court for injury resulting from maritime torts, the substantive law to be applied is maritime law. *Rindfleisch v. Carnival Cruise Lines, Inc.*, 498 So. 2d 488, 490 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986);

⁶ The issues presented for this Court's review – whether the district court had authority to change settled maritime law, and "[w]hether a cruise line is vicariously liable for the medical malpractice of the shipboard doctor, committed on a ship's passenger," are legal questions and therefore reviewed by this Court de novo, *see Armstrong v. Harris*, 773 So. 2d 7, 11 (Fla. 2000). The entry of a summary judgment on a pure question of law is reviewed de novo as well. *Clay Elec. Coop., Inc. v. Johnson*, No. SC01-1955, 2003 WL 22966277, at *2 (Fla. 2003).

Hallman v. Carnival Cruise Lines, Inc., 459 So. 2d 378, 379 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984); *Klosters Rederi A/S v. Cowden*, 447 So. 2d 1017, 1018 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984). More specifically, as the district court pointed out in its decision, "the negligence of a medical professional who causes injury to a person at sea constitutes a maritime tort and . . . causes of action founded on such negligence are to be governed by maritime law." *Rand v. Hatch*, 762 So. 2d 1001, 1003 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000). *See* 864 So. 2d at 3 (A2).

The rule of maritime law applicable here is that a shipowner is not vicariously liable for the negligence of a ship's physician in treating passengers. "If the doctor is negligent in treating a passenger . . . that negligence will not be imputed to the carrier." *Barbetta v. S/S Bermuda Star*, 848 F.2d 1364, 1369 (5th Cir. 1988). *See also Amdur v. Zim Israel Navigation Co., Ltd.*, 310 F. Supp. 1033, 1042 (S.D.N.Y. 1969) ("[i]t is the general rule that a physician or surgeon . . . is not a servant or agent of the shipowner and the latter is not liable for the negligence of the former in treating a passenger"). The *Barbetta* rule has been settled maritime law since 1887, followed by all courts but one since then. Yet the district court, embracing that one aberrant decision and scholars' criticism of the *Barbetta* rule, "reject[ed] the holding of the *Barbetta* line of cases," and "impos[ed] . . . vicarious liability," 864 So. 2d at 7 (A6), standing established maritime law on its head.

The *Barbetta* rule was in fact established long before *Barbetta*, as the Fifth Circuit explained, listing the many earlier cases:

Does general maritime law impose liability, under the doctrine of respondeat superior, upon a carrier or ship owner for the negligence of a ship's doctor who treats the ship's passengers? Although neither the

Supreme Court, this court nor any district court in this circuit has ruled on the question, we are not without guidance. An impressive number of courts from many jurisdictions have, for almost one hundred years, followed the same basic rule: When a carrier undertakes to employ a doctor aboard ship for its passengers' convenience, the carrier has a duty to employ a doctor who is competent and duly qualified. If the carrier breaches its duty, it is responsible for its own negligence. If the doctor is negligent in treating a passenger, however, that negligence will not be imputed to the carrier. E.g., The Korea Maru, 254 F. 397, 399 (9th Cir. 1918); The Great Northern, 251 F. 826, 830-32 (9th Cir. 1918); Di Bonaventure v. Home Lines, Inc., 536 F.Supp. 100, 103-04 (E.D. Penn. 1982); Cimini v. Italia Crociere Int'l S.P.A., 1981 A.M.C. 2674, 2677 (S.D. N.Y. 1981); Amdur v. Zim Israel Navigation Co., 310 F.Supp. 1033, 1042 (S.D.N.Y. 1969); Branch v. Compagnie Generale Transatlantique, 11 F.Supp. 832 (S.D.N.Y. 1935); Churchill v. United Fruit Co., 294 F. 400, 402 (D. Mass. 1923); The Napolitan Prince, 134 F. 159, 160 (E.D.N.Y. 1904); O'Brien v. Cunard Steamship Co., 154 Mass. 272, 28 N.E. 266, 267 (1891); Laubheim v. De Koninglyke Neder Landsche Stoomboot Maatschappy, 107 N.Y. 228, 13 N.E. 781 (1887). See De Zon v. American President Lines, Ltd., 318 U.S. 660, 666-67 n.2, 63 S.Ct. 814, 817-18 n.2, 87 L.Ed. 1065 (1943) (tracing the development of the basic rule in the state courts, and recognizing the influence which those state "judges of great learning, for courts of last resort of states having much to do with maritime pursuits," had on the rule's development in the federal courts); see also 1 M. Norris, The Law of Maritime Personal Injuries § 39 (3d ed. 1975).

848 F.2d at 1369. Courts before and after *Barbetta* have adhered to this rule, including another federal circuit court of appeal, many federal district courts (including six decisions from the Southern District of Florida), New York's highest court and a California intermediate appellate court. *Cummiskey v. Chandris, S.A.*, 895 F.2d 107, 108 (2d Cir. 1990); *Jackson v. Carnival Cruise Lines, Inc.*, 203 F. Supp. 2d 1367, 1374 (S.D. Fla. 2002); *Doe v. Celebrity Cruises*, 145 F. Supp. 2d 1337, 1345-46 (S.D. Fla. 2001); *Lee v. Regal Cruises, Ltd.*, 916 F. Supp. 300, 303 n.3 (S.D.N.Y. 1996), *affirmed*, 116 F.3d 465 (2d Cir. 1997); *Malmed v. Cunard Line Ltd.*, No. 91 CIV. 8164 (KMW), 1995 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 12256, at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 22, 1995)

(unpublished); Warren v. Ajax Navigation Corp., No. 91-0230-CIV-RYSKAMP,
1995 WL 688421, at *3 (S.D. Fla. 1995) (unpublished); Fairley v. Royal Cruise Line
Ltd., 1993 AMC 1633, 1639 (S.D. Fla. 1993); Gillmor v. Caribbean Cruise Line,
Ltd., 789 F. Supp. 488, 491 (D.P.R. 1992); Hilliard v. Kloster Cruise, Ltd., 1991
AMC 314, 316-17 (E.D. Va. 1990); Nanz v. Costa Cruises, Inc., 1991 AMC 48, 49
(S.D. Fla. 1990), affirmed, 932 F.2d 977 (11th Cir. 1991); Mascolo v. Costa Crociere,
S.p.A., 726 F. Supp. 1285, 1286 (S.D. Fla. 1989); Bowns v. Royal Viking Lines, Inc.,
1977 AMC 2159 (S.D.N.Y. 1977); Metzger v. Italian Line, 1976 AMC 453
(S.D.N.Y.), affirmed, 535 F.2d 1242 (2d Cir. 1975); Ludena v. The Santa Luisa, 112
F. Supp. 401, 408 (S.D.N.Y. 1953); Allan v. State S.S. Co., 30 N.E. 482, 485 (N.Y.
1892); DeRoche v. Commodore Cruise Line, Ltd., 46 Cal. Rptr. 2d 468, 472 (Cal.
Ct. App. 1994).⁷

In 1959 a federal district court judge in California took exception to the rule, and, despite Ninth Circuit precedent to the contrary,⁸ and relying not on ship cases but on hospital and corporation cases, made his own rule:

It is our opinion that, where a ship's physician is in the regular

⁷ In *DeZon v. American President Lines*, 318 U.S. 660 (1943), the United States Supreme Court, holding that an employer was liable to *seamen* for negligence of a ship's physician, in a footnote observed that "[1]iability to a *passenger* injured by the negligence of a ship's doctor has been denied on this ground," *id.* at 666 n.2 (emphasis added), and discussed and quoted as "statements of judges of great learning" the early cases establishing the rule of non-liability. Though the court in *Nietes v. American President Lines, Ltd.*, 188 F. Supp. 219 (N.D. Cal. 1959), said it thought the *DeZon* court did so "with implied criticism," *Nietes*, 188 F. Supp. at 220, we have carefully read *DeZon* and can find no such implication.

⁸ *The Korea Maru*, 254 F. 397, 399 (9th Cir. 1918); *The Great Northern*, 251 F. 826, 830-32 (9th Cir. 1918).

employment of a ship, as a salaried member of the crew, subject to the ship's discipline and the master's orders, and presumably also under the general direction and supervision of the company's chief surgeon through modern means of communication, he is, for the purposes of respondeat superior at least, in the nature of an employee or servant for whose negligent treatment of a passenger a shipowner may be held liable.

Nietes v. American President Lines, Ltd., 188 F. Supp. 219, 220 (N.D. Cal. 1959).

Despite a lapse of 44 years, no court until the Third District followed Nietes to hold a shipowner vicariously liable. As Judge Marcus vividly put it in Fairley v. Royal Cruise Line Ltd., 1993 AMC 1633 (S.D. Fla. 1993), "the overwhelming tide of case law on the question holds that a shipowner may not be held vicariously liable for the torts of the ship's doctor," and "[t]he lone beacon of dissent is *Nietes*" *Id.* at 1634, 1635. Apart from not being followed, *Nietes* has been criticized by several courts. See DeRoche v. Commodore Cruise Line, Ltd., 46 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 472 ("Nietes . . . appears to stand alone . . . and has been criticized roundly for it"). Accord Malmed v. Cunard Line, Ltd., 1995 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 12256, at 4 n.2. In Amdur v. Zim Israel Navigation Co., Ltd., 310 F. Supp. at 1042, the court observed that the *Nietes* rationale, "while perhaps viable for the specific fact pattern in *Nietes*, is not sound as a general rule," accord Di Bonaventure v. Home Lines, Inc., 536 F. Supp. 100, 103 (E.D. Pa. 1982), and that "[t]o pretend, as the *Nietes* case does, that mere employment of a physician by a shipping company . . . creates control, is to create a species of liability without fault which is without precedent." Amdur v. Zim Israel Navigation Co., 310 F. Supp. at 1043. The Barbetta court found Nietes to be "internally contradictory" and misguided. 848 F.2d at 1370-71.⁹ And so until now, courts, although asked by plaintiffs, as the district court was here, to discard the *Barbetta* rule and follow *Nietes*, have refused to do so. *Cummiskey v. Chandris*, S.A., 895 F.2d at 108 ("we decline the invitation to break with maritime precedent"); *Mascolo v. Costa Crociere*, 726 F. Supp. at 1286 ("[u]nder the doctrine of *stare decisis* we will not and cannot abolish a century-old rule of law"); *DeRoche*, 46 Cal. Rptr. 2d at 472 ("[w]e see no reason to depart from the established law"); *Barbetta*, 848 F.2d at 1370 ("we decline to follow the *Nietes* court's lead").¹⁰

The mere fact that the controling principals [sic] of law here have been in existence for over a century is an indication that the rule is a sound (continued...)

⁹ We address the criticism of *Nietes* in more detail in Part II.

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