### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-393

### CARNIVAL CORPORATION,

Petitioner,

v.

DARCE CARLISLE,

Respondent

\_\_\_\_/

# ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT DARCE CARLISLE

### ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

LIPCON, MARGULIES, & ALSINA, P.A. Two S. Biscayne Blvd Suite 2480 Miami, FLORIDA 33131 (305) 373-3016 THE LAW OFFICE OF DAVID H. POLLACK, LLC 540 Brickell Key Drive Suite C-1 Miami, FLORIDA 33131 (305) 372-5900

**Counsel for Darce Carlisle** 

### **

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

864 So.2d at 4-5 (A4-5); accord, Huntley, 307 F. Supp 2d at 1372 ("[w]here the cruise

line has made an economic decision-that it is the most cost-effective for the cruise line and most attractive to prospective passengers for it to employ a shipboard doctor with a well-equipped shipboard infirmary in order to discharge its duty to provide reasonable medical attention under the circumstances-it is not unreasonable to require the cruise line to bear the costs of such decision"); <u>Fairley</u>, 1993 AMC at 1639. Indeed, as the district court recognized, because the employment of a doctor aboard a ship is a beneficial substitute for the shipowner's otherwise more costly duty to sick passengers, there is a legitimate reason to impose liability on a cruise line for the negligence of its doctors. <u>See Carlisle</u>, 864 So2d at 5 (A5); <u>Fairley</u>, 1997 AMC at 1639 ("where the cruise line has reaped the benefits of carrying a doctor aboard its vessels, there may be circumstances where it should be required to bear its consequences.")

In addition, cruise lines also benefit from providing passengers with a shipboard physician, "since the presence of a qualified physician on board, with a well-equipped and well-staffed infirmary, is an enticement to purchase the ticket." <u>Fairley</u>, at 1993 AMC 1639; <u>Carlisle</u>, 864 So.2d 1(A1).<sup>12/</sup> Indeed, while cruise lines are not *technically* required to provide quality medical care to passengers, in today's competitive cruise line industry, they need to do so if they wish to remain in business:

While the presence of an onboard physician is not required by law, the practical realities of the competitive cruise industry, and reasonably anticipated risks of taking a small city of people to sea for days at a time, all but dictate a doctor's presence.

<u>Carlisle</u>, 864 So.2d at 5 (A5); <u>see also</u> Dickinson and Andy Vladimir, <u>Selling the Sea:</u> <u>An Inside Look at the Cruise Industry</u>, at 78 ("Legally there are no American or international requirements concerning the level of cruise-ship medicine. However, <u>since lines are in the hospitality business, it makes eminent sense to provide necessary</u> <u>and adequate medical care</u>.")(emphasis added). To the extent that cruise lines benefit economically from providing medical services to passengers, there is no reason why they should not be required to assume responsibility for their human costs of those services. <u>See Fairley</u>, 1993 AMC at 1639.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12/</sup> Indeed, the Carlisles specifically stated that having a doctor onboard the ship was an important factor for them in deciding to go on their cruise. <u>See</u> (2R. 531).

Furthermore, adopting <u>Barbetta</u> would have the anomalous effect of shielding cruise lines from liability for the malpractice of shipboard physicians committed on passengers, while continuing to hold them vicariously liable for negligence committed on crewmembers. <u>See Compagno, Malpractice on the Love Boat: Barbetta v S/S</u> <u>Bermuda Star</u>, 14 Tul. Mar. L.J. at 390-391. This result seems particularly absurd where, as here, the vessel owner agrees to indemnify the doctor for all malpractice claims, regardless of who brings them. <u>See DeZon v. Am. President Lines, Ltd.</u>, 318 U.S. 660, 87 L.Ed. 1065, 63 S.Ct. 814 (1943). There is simply no logical justification for allowing a crewmember to recover damages from a shipowner for the malpractice of its physician while leaving a passenger injured <u>by that same physician</u> without any legal recourse. Id.<sup>13/</sup>

Finally, the biggest problem with <u>Barbetta</u> is that in many cases, such as this one, it leaves an injured plaintiff of any viable legal remedy. Although passengers such as Carlisle *theoretically* have an action against cruise line doctors who commit medical malpractice, *realistically* that action is only as good as their ability to serve

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13/</sup> Carnival argues that holding cruise lines vicariously liable for the medical negligence of shipboard doctors committed on crewmembers is justified because the vessel owner is required to provide crewmembers with a doctor onboard the vessel under the Jones Act and general maritime law. However, where, as here, the cruise line chooses to provide those same services to passengers as a means of satisfying its duty under general maritime law to provide reasonable medical care to its passengers, this is a distinction without any real difference. <u>See Carlisle</u>, 864 So2d at 6 (A6); <u>Fairley</u>, 1993 AMC at 1639.

those physicians with process and exercise jurisdiction over them. Many ship's doctors live abroad and are constantly traveling onboard vessels. <u>See</u> Dickinson and Vladimir, <u>Sailing the Sea</u>: <u>An Inside Look at the Cruise Industry</u> at 78.<sup>14/</sup> As a result, it is often a practical impossibility to serve them with process within the time required by the Rules of Civil Procedure. Additionally, there is no guarantee that if the doctor is served that a passenger will be able to exercise personal jurisdiction over him, or that they will be able to satisfy any judgment ultimately obtained against them.

Whatever logical basis the <u>Barbetta</u> rule may at one time have had, there is no question that like the last clear chance rule and the doctrine of divided damages, it has outlived its usefulness. Given the modern realities of passenger travel onboard cruise ships, the district court was entirely correct to reverse the summary judgment in favor of Carnival.

# C. There was a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Dr. Neri held himself out as Carnival's agent at the time he treated Elizabeth.

Because the district court concluded as a matter of law that Carnival was vicariously liable for the medical malpractice of Dr. Neri, it did not address the issue of apparent agency. However, the district court's decision to reverse the summary judgment in favor of Carnival was also correct on that basis because there was a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14/</sup> Dr. Neri lived in England prior to and after working for Carnival. (2R. 668).

genuine issue of material fact as to whether Carnival could be held liable for Dr. Neri's conduct on a theory of apparent agency.

Where a ship holds a doctor out to be its agent, under circumstances suggesting that the doctor was treating the plaintiff on behalf of the carrier, and the plaintiff relies on those representations to his detriment, the vessel may be liable for the malpractice of the ship's doctor on a theory of apparent agency. See Fairley v. Royal Cruise Line Limited, 1993 AMC 1633 (S.D. Fla. 1993). The Court in Fairley reached this conclusion despite the Fifth Circuit's decision in <u>Barbetta v. S/S/ Bermuda Star</u>, 848 F.2d 1364 (5th Cir. 1988), which held that a shipowner could not be held vicariously liable for the torts of the ship's doctor. The Court also specifically rejected the cruise line's argument that the doctor was an independent contractor, and not an agent of the vessel, based on the language in the passenger ticket. "Contrary to Defendant's argument in its Supplemental Memorandum, p. 20 of Plaintiff's passenger contract, attached to the Amended Complaint, will not dispose of the issue of whether the ship doctor was an independent contractor . . ." Id. at 1640.

The result in <u>Fairley</u> is consistent with the Restatement of Agency, as well as the majority of jurisdictions which have recently recognized a cause of action against a physician for medical malpractice even though the physician is an independent contractor based on the doctrine of apparent agency. <u>See Delvalle v. Sanchez</u>, 170 F.Supp.2d 1254 (S.D. Fla. 2001)(summary judgment on issue of apparent agency

improper where plaque on hospital wall listed gynecologist as working at hospital and where patients who were treated by doctor toured hospital facilities and went to that hospital to deliver their babies); Kafri v. Greenwich Hosp. Ass'n, 2000 WL 306620 (D. Conn. 2000)(denying summary judgment on apparent agency theory where patient paid radiology group, radiology group was located in hospital, and screening equipment used by radiology group was owned by hospital); <u>Bynum v. Magno</u>, 125 F.Supp.2d 1249 (D. Hawaii 2000)(where all forms presented to patient bore hospital's name, patient was unfamiliar with doctors and had no reason to believe they were not employees of hospital, summary judgment on apparent agency issue was improper); Jennison v. Providence St. Vincent Medical Ctr., 25 P.3d 358 (Or. Dist. Ct. App. 2001)(unless a patient has actual knowledge of a physician's actual status as an independent contractor, the patient can recover against the hospital for the physician's negligence if it is objectively reasonable for the patient to believe that the physician is an employee of the hospital); Pamperin v. Trinity Mem. Hosp., 423 N.W.2d 848 (Wis. 1988)(applying apparent agency doctrine where radiologist misread x-ray); Harding v. Martini, 726 N.E.2d 84 (Ill.Dist.Ct.App. 2000)(father's reliance on hospital's conduct was sufficient to create factual issue on child's claim for apparent agency in medical malpractice case); Simmons v. Tuomey Regional Medical Ctr., 533 S.E.2d 312 (2000)(trial court erred in entering summary judgment for hospital on medical malpractice claim despite disclaimer in consent given to patients that doctors were

independent contractors; genuine issue of material fact existed as to whether doctors were apparent agents of hospital); Guadagnoli v. Seaview Radiology, 712 N.Y.S.2d 812 (N.Y.Dist.Ct.App. 2000)(denying summary judgment on agency by estoppel theory where hospital held itself to public as offering and rendering radiological services and where patient believed hospital was responsible for her treatment); Kashishian v. Al-Bitar, 535 N.W.2d 105 (Wis.Dist.Ct.App. 1995)(reversing summary judgment in favor of hospital on apparent agency where patient did not enter hospital seeking treatment from specific physician and there was no evidence that patient was aware that physician was not an employee of hospital); Jackson v. Power, 743 P.2d 1376 (Alaska 1987)(hospital could be liable for malpractice of independent contractor under an apparent agency theory of vicarious liability); Hill v. St. Clare's Hosp., 499 N.Y.S. 2d 904 (1986)(same; Restatement (Second) of Agency § 267 ("One who represents that another is his servant or other agent and thereby causes a third person justifiably to rely upon the care or skill of such apparent agent is subject to liability to the third person for harm caused by the lack of care or skill of the one appearing to be a servant or other agent as if he were such.")

The record in this case clearly establishes a genuine issue of material fact with regard to the question of apparent agency. At the time Dr. Neri treated Carlisle, he was wearing a Carnival Cruise Lines name tag. (2R. 428). He also was wearing what appeared to Carlisle to be an officer's uniform. (2R. 429, 531). Carlisle paid the

doctor using her "Sail and Sign" card, which was provided to her by Carnival prior to the beginning of the voyage. (2R. 246). Doctor Neri never told the Carlisles that he was not an employee of the ship. In fact, Carnival's own witness conceded that the ship's doctor is considered an officer of the ship. (2R. 691).<sup>15/</sup>

There was also sufficient evidence with regard to the issue of the Carlisle's reliance on the ship's conduct with regard to Dr. Neri appearing to be its employee. At the time the Carlisles went on the cruise, they knew that there was a doctor onboard the ship. (2R. 528). The existence of a doctor affected their decision to cruise. (2R. 531). Indeed, had Carnival not provided medical facilities onboard the Ecstasy, the Carlisles testified they would not have taken the cruise. (2R. 531). On a motion for summary judgment, the moving party bears the burden of establishing the absence of any material issues of fact. <u>See Delandro v. America's Mortg. Servicing, Inc.</u>, 674 So.2d 184 (3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1996). Any doubts as to the existence of factual issues must be resolved in favor of the non-movant. <u>Id</u>. at 186. Given the significant evidence set forth by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15/</sup> Carnival's claim that Dr. Neri was merely an independent contractor, and not an employee, is further belied by the extensive control it exercised over him while he worked onboard the Ecstasy. Carnival set and controlled Dr. Neri's working hours. (2R.433, 586). It also selected the nursing staff he worked with and provided him with medical equipment. (2R. 649). Carnival's contract with Dr. Neri required Carnival to indemnify him for \$1 million in the event he is sued for medical malpractice related to his work onboard the ship. (2R. 680). It also required Dr. Neri to permit all claims "to be dealt with by [Carnival] or any insurance association with which [Carnival is insured]." (2R. 712).

Carlisle on the issue of Dr. Neri's relationship to the ship, the district court's order reversing summary judgment in favor of Carnival should be affirmed.

### II THIS ISSUE IS NOT OF SUFFICIENT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE TO WARRANT THIS COURT'S EXERCISE OF ITS DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION.

All of this, of course, assumes that this case presents a question of sufficient public importance to justify this Court's exercise of its discretionary jurisdiction to review the district court's decision. With all due respect to the district court's certification order, we submit that it does not.

Cases of exceptional importance are normally limited to those which may affect large numbers of persons and interpret fundamental legal or constitutional rights. In the Interest of D.J.S., 563 So.2d 655 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1990). The outcome of this Court's decision effects three groups of people: shipowners, shipboard medical personnel, and passengers who are injured as a result of the medical negligence of shipboard medical personnel. While the decision in this case is certainly of great significance to those individuals, the number of persons whose lives will actually be effected by it is fairly limited. Only 1 in 20,000 Carnival passengers suffers a medical crisis serious enough to require evacuation. Dickinson and Vladimir, <u>Selling the Sea: An Inside Look at the Cruise Industry</u>, at 77. Furthermore, despite the number of passengers who cruise annually, the risk of accidents, attack and disease onboard a cruise ship is relatively small. Klein, <u>Cruise Ship Blues: The Underside of the Cruise Industry</u>, at 81.

Carnival cites to newspaper articles and studies indicating that the cruise industry spent \$4.5 billion in Florida last year and accounts for two-thirds of all U.S. passenger embarkations. However, these figures merely demonstrate that passenger cruising is big business – a point Carlisle readily concedes. They do *not*, however, demonstrate that medical malpractice committed on passengers by ship's physicians is a widespread problem, let alone one of "great public importance." Furthermore, the fact that Florida derives a substantial economic benefit is irrelevant to an issue of *federal maritime law*.

Finally, there is no fundamental or constitutional right implicated by the district court's decision on this issue. How could there be, when other federal district courts applying maritime law have held shipowners vicariously liable for the medical negligence of their doctors in other cases? <u>See Fairley</u>, 1993 AMC at 1633; <u>Nietes</u>, 188 F.Supp. at 219; <u>Huntley</u>, 307 F. Supp 2d at 1372. Ultimately, this case presents nothing more than a conflict among various courts over an issue of maritime law. While it certainly is an issue significant to the parties and to those in the cruise line industry, it does not rise to the level of a question of "great public importance" that warrants this Court's exercise of its discretionary jurisdiction. Accordingly, this Court should decline to exercise its jurisdiction and dismiss Carnival's petition.

### **CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should decline to exercise its jurisdiction

and dismiss Carnival's petition, or alternatively, affirm the district court's order

reversing summary judgment in favor of Carnival.